STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Dec 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000614
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-40-00827

Kellum W. Allen,..... Respondent,

v.

Ann Marie Watson,..... Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert P. Wood, SC Bar No. 6206
ROGERS TOWNSEND, LLC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor
PO Box 100200 (29202)
Columbia SC 29201
(803) 771-7900 – Telephone
(803) 343-7017 - Fax
robert.wood@rogerstownsend.com
Attorney for Appellant, Ann Marie Watson

Other Counsel of Record:

James Randall Davis, Esq. (S.C. Bar No. 1580)
Davis Frawley, LLC

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Circuit Court err in dismissing the Fourth Cause of Action (for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act) on the claimed basis that the land option entered into between a lawyer and his active, current client without her informed consent was a private transaction that does not affect the public interest?

II. Did the Circuit Court err in ruling there is no cause of action in South Carolina for breach of confidential information?

III. Did the Circuit Court err in ruling that the allegations of the Second Counterclaim merely repeated the allegations of the First Counterclaim such that the Second Counterclaim could be dismissed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court pursuant to a Notice of Appeal (R. p. 115) filed by Ann Marie Watson (“Ann Marie,” “Appellant,” or “Defendant”) on March, 31, 2025, seeking review of two orders – an order dismissing the second and fourth causes of action in her amended counterclaims (R. pp. 3,6) and an order denying her motion to reconsider (R. p. 9).

This suit was commenced by service of a summons and complaint filed in Richland County on February 7, 2024. R. p. 13. In his complaint, Plaintiff/Respondent Kellum Allen (“Attorney Allen”) sought specific performance of an 18-month land option contract to purchase 17.51 acres from Ann Marie. Compl. ¶¶ 3, 6; R. p. 13.

Ann Marie answered and counterclaimed (R. p. 17) and then filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim on June 12, 2025. R. p. 30.

In her Amended Answer she alleged she had voided the land option. Am. Ans. ¶ 5; R. p. 30. She went on to allege in ¶ 8 of her Amended Answer (R. p. 31) that while serving as her domestic lawyer, Plaintiff/Respondent Attorney Allen encouraged her to execute and deliver the land option. Specifically, she alleged in ¶ 8:

a) implied within the scope of any legal representation agreement, this one included, is the lawyer's promise to advise the client when to obtain independent legal counsel and independent business advice;

b) also implied within the scope of any legal representation agreement, this one included, is the lawyer's promise to treat his client fairly and reasonably and not to use her confidential information for his own benefit;

c) Attorney Allen knew or should have known that inserting into a land option of this sort a refundable deposit in any amount was not customary and was utterly unfair, unreasonable, and unconscionable to his client, Ann Marie;

d) Attorney Allen knew or should have known that a deposit of \$500 for a land option of this sort was not customary and was utterly unfair, unreasonable, and unconscionable to his client, Ann Marie;

e) Attorney Allen, while serving as Ann Marie's domestic lawyer, encouraged her to execute and deliver the land option yet never advised her to retain independent legal counsel or obtain business advice to advise her on the fairness and reasonableness of the offer, and Respondent took full advantage of the fact that his client relied on him to know what was customary, fair, and reasonable for such a transaction when, in fact, Attorney Allen was using information Ann Marie had entrusted him with to Attorney Allen's personal advantage; and

f) Attorney Allen, while serving as Ann Marie's domestic lawyer, encouraged her to execute and deliver the land option yet never advised her to retain a real estate broker or appraiser or independent counsel to advise her on the reasonableness of the offer in terms of i) the price; ii) the diminution of the per-acre value of Ann Marie's adjoining lands; iii) the duration of the land option; iv) the difficulties and expense of enforcing the restriction on the disruption of the pet cemetery; v) Ann Marie's continued access to the pet cemetery; vi) the advisability of a clause whereby the cost of the land option would increase as the exercise of the land option were delayed; vii) public interest in the lands in light of public comments made by officials of Richland School District Two regarding the possible construction of a \$140 million high school on lands adjoining those of Attorney Allen and his siblings; viii) the down payment was to be applied to the purchase price; and ix) the advisability of the land option being assignable. In addition, the Plaintiff took full advantage of the fact that Ann Marie relied on the Plaintiff to know what was customary, fair, and reasonable for such a transaction when, in fact, the Plaintiff was using information Ann Marie had entrusted him with to the Plaintiff's personal advantage; and

g) Attorney Allen, while serving as Ann Marie's domestic lawyer, encouraged her to execute and deliver a writing that Attorney Allen had drafted, yet he knew or should have known was not phrased in terms Ann Marie could reasonably understand;

h) Attorney Allen, while serving as Ann Marie's domestic lawyer, encouraged her to execute and deliver a writing in an unrelated matter without stating whether he represented her in that transaction;

i) Ann Marie had entrusted Attorney Allen with intimate, personal knowledge about her financial and emotional condition, her assets, her liabilities, her net worth, her liquidity, her

debts, her access to liquidity, her negotiating personality, skills and experience, her tolerance for conflict, her level of trust in Attorney Allen, her lack of knowledge of commercial real estate transactions, her access to family support, her children's current needs, the level of support from her family and the reasons for it, and her emotional state over the recent loss of her father; and Attorney Allen used that information to his personal advantage;

j) Ann Marie had entrusted Attorney Allen with knowledge of her fractured relationship with her siblings, and Attorney Allen used that information to his personal advantage by proposing to buy land from Ann Marie when Attorney Allen knew her siblings, or one or more of them, would be opposed to any such sale; and

k) Attorney Allen had vastly superior knowledge about prospective uses for the Subject Property than did Ann Marie, yet he failed to disclose those to her; and

l) Attorney Allen failed to advise Ann Marie (his client) that she would not be able to enforce any oral promises he had made to her (such as those about lot density, the pet cemetery, and equestrian amenities) that were not included in the written contract.

Am. Ans. ¶ 8; R. pp. 31-33.

She also alleged that Attorney Allen, as her lawyer, failed to advise her that the land option was void or voidable and that the Allen had misappropriated her information to his own personal benefit in violation of his duties of good faith, loyalty, and confidentiality. Am. Ans. ¶ 10; R. p. 34. She went on to allege that she tendered the return of the \$500 deposit" and that Attorney Allen further violated his duties to Ann Marie by purporting to reject the tender. Am. Ans. ¶ 11; R. p. 34. She denied Attorney Allen was entitled to specific performance of the land option. Am. Ans. ¶ 13; R. p. 34.

Ann Marie also asserted the defenses that the land option was illegal and against public policy (and therefore unenforceable) and drafted in violation of Attorney Allen's common law duties of the utmost good faith, loyalty, and confidentiality and in violation of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct. Am. Ans. ¶¶ 15-21; R. p. 35. Specifically, she alleged Attorney Allen was her lawyer in a family court matter when he initiated discussions regarding and entered into the business transaction, that Attorney Allen drafted the land option, that Attorney Allen did not advise her in writing or otherwise of the desirability of seeking independent legal or business counsel in the transaction and did not give her a reasonable opportunity to seek such independent advice. She alleged the terms of the land option are not fair (for the reasons stated above), she alleged the Attorney Allen did not draft the land option in a manner such that the Defendant, the Attorney Allen's client, could reasonably understand it; and Attorney Allen did not explain to Ann Marie that he was not her lawyer with respect to the transaction. *Id.*

By way of a third defense Ann Marie alleged the land option was not supported by consideration since the \$500 deposit was to be held in her bank account and was fully refundable. Am. Ans. ¶ 23; R. p. 35. She alleged that to the extent the land option is deemed to be supported by consideration, the consideration was wholly inadequate under the circumstances, making the land option voidable and unenforceable. R. pp. 35-36.

In her Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Defenses, she alleged Attorney Allen had unclean hands and was not entitled to enforce the land option and that the transaction was unfair and unconscionable for the reasons stated above. Am. Ans. ¶¶ 24-34; R. pp. 36-37. Specifically, she alleged Attorney Allen is a sophisticated attorney and former judge who has drafted or reviewed professionally thousands of contracts and conducted hundreds of negotiations. Am. Ans. ¶ 30; R. p. 36. She alleged she has no formal legal training or experience and has only rarely reviewed a

contract or negotiated the terms of one. Am. Ans. ¶ 31; R. p. 37. She alleged she knows very little about substantive contract law, the terms normally found in an option contract or contract for the sale of undeveloped real property, or the bargaining process. *Id.* She alleged Attorney Allen's bargaining power is immensely greater than that of her own. Am. Ans. ¶ 32; R. p. 37. She also alleged the land option Attorney Allen presented to her failed to contain terms she asked for with respect to Attorney Allen's use of the land. Am. Ans. ¶ 33; R. p. 37.

As her Seventh Defense, she alleged Respondent should be estopped from asserting any rights he might otherwise have under the land option. Am. Ans. ¶¶ 35, 36; R. p. 37.

Ann Marie then asserted four counterclaims, incorporating into each the previous allegations by reference.

Her First Counterclaim (which the lower court did not dismiss) is a claim for breach of fiduciary duties of good faith, loyalty, and confidentiality. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶¶ 37 *et seq.*; R. p. 37. She alleged that when Attorney Allen presented the land option to her, Allen did not advise her to seek independent counsel or independent business advice, did not explain that he was not acting as her lawyer in the business transaction, did not present the land option to her in an arm's-length transaction or in a way she could understand, did not share with her that he was intending to combine her property with that of others and offer the combined tracts to a real estate developer for a high density, non-equestrian residential development, did not reveal to her the financial benefit he was obtaining from the transaction, did not explain to her that promises he had made regarding his use for the land would only be binding on her to the extent they were expressed in the written document, did not explain to her that the \$500 deposit he was tendering to her was not remotely adequate or customary for such a land option, did not disclose to her all known information that was significant and material regarding the transaction, and did not

explain to her how difficult it might be for her to enforce the pet cemetery restriction shown on a plat she had sent him and on which she had conditioned all further transactions regarding the land. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 39; R. pp. 37-38. She itemized the damages she suffered as a result. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 43; R. pp. 38-39.

In her Second Counterclaim she incorporated the previous allegations and alleged that Attorney Allen had misappropriated her confidential information by presenting the ill-gotten land option to a third-party real estate developer along with other papers and obtained for himself some unknown benefit, and that, on information and belief, he remains in wrongful possession of that benefit today. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 48; R. p. 39. She sought the imposition of a constructive trust and an accounting and payment of such additional sums as are necessary to restore her to the position she occupied prior to executing the land option. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 50; R. p. 40. She also sought damages. *Id.* at ¶ 51; R. p. 40.

The lower court would later dismiss this cause of action, saying, “The claim does not exist or is otherwise duplicative of Defendant’s First Counterclaim for Breach of Fiduciary Duties of good Faith, Loyalty, and Confidentiality.” Order of January 24, 2025, at pg. 2 of 2; Supplemental Order of January 27, 2025, at pg. 2 of 2; R. pp. 4, 7.

Ann Marie’s Third Counterclaim is for Professional Negligence. She alleged that Attorney Allen is an attorney practicing law in South Carolina and that she retained him to serve as her attorney in a domestic matter. She alleged he served as her attorney in that matter from May 1, 2016 through October 2022. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶¶ 53, 54; R. pp. 40-41.

She alleged that by accepting her as his client, “the Plaintiff assumed duties to her to possess and exercise the same degree of skill, care, learning, communication, and disclosure as would be expected of a reasonable, competent, and trustworthy attorney under the same or

similar circumstances. Those duties included, among other things, the duty to inform, consult, and communicate with the client as to a need to retain other counsel if he could not represent her yet knew she needed a lawyer.” Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 55; R. p. 41. She alleged that when the Plaintiff offered to enter into a business transaction with her, he knew she needed separate legal and business counsel, yet he failed to advise her of that. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 56; R. p. 41. She then alleged Attorney Allen acted negligently, carelessly, recklessly, and wantonly in the following particulars:

- a) Failing to render legal services in the form of advice to retain separate counsel with respect to the land option;
- b) Failing to disclose to Ann Marie that he had a conflict of interest and could not enter into the land option without her properly informed, written consent;
- c) Failing to disclose to Ann Marie that Attorney Allen was prohibited by South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct from entering into this transaction unless he had obtained her properly informed, written consent;
- d) Failing to comply with the rules, regulations and statutes governing attorneys’ conduct in the State of South Carolina; and
- e) Taking advantage of the Defendant.

Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 57; R. p. 41.

Ann Marie alleged as a result that she suffered actual damages and specified what those damages were. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 58; R. p. 42.

The lower court did not dismiss this counterclaim.

In her Fourth Counterclaim she sought damages from Attorney Allen for his violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. She alleged that Attorney Allen was an attorney

who was engaged in trade or commerce in South Carolina (Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 60; R. p. 42), that he enticed her to enter into this business transaction with him when he knew she was his client, that she looked up to him as her trusted attorney, that she did not have separate representation for the transaction, and that he had superior knowledge about some relevant facts. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 61; R. p. 42. She alleged his actions were capable of repetition because he is a practicing attorney who accepts cases from the general public and from family members. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 63; R. p. 43. She alleged that Attorney Allen had engaged in a similar transaction with a client before, even naming the client and citing the civil action number of the ensuing lawsuit (Lexington County Civil Action No. 2000-CP-32-00248). Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 64; R. p. 43.

She also alleged that Allen's actions are capable of repetition because he continues to practice law in South Carolina, he represents naïve, uninformed and trusting clients, he owns property with other relatives in Richland County, and he remains willing to conduct business with those relatives and clients. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 65; R. p. 43. She also alleged his actions affect the public interest because they have reduced the public's confidence in the South Carolina justice system and the South Carolina Bar. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 66; R. p. 43. She also alleged his actions affect the public interest because they constituted violations of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct and were not merely violations of his common law fiduciary duties. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 67; R. p. 43. She then alleged specific ways that Attorney Allen's actions cost Ann Marie an ascertainable sum of money. Am. Ans. and Counterclaim ¶ 68; R. pp. 43-44.

In his Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss, Attorney Allen acknowledged that Ann Marie in her Unfair Trade Practices Act counterclaim had “alleged an ongoing, active, attorney-client relationship.” Pl. Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims at pg. 4; R. p. 71.

Despite the allegations of the Amended Answer and Counterclaims and Attorney Allen’s recognition that Ann Marie had alleged they had an ongoing, active attorney-client relationship, the lower court, the Hon. Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge, dismissed this cause of action “based on the fact this case concerns a private transaction that does not affect the public interest.” Order of January 27, 2025, pg. 2; R. p. 7.

On February 23, 2025, Ann Marie filed a motion to reconsider, which the lower court denied by order entered March 25, 2025. R. p. 10. Ann Marie served and filed her notice of appeal on March 31, 2025. R. p. 116.

The pleadings do not state the amount involved on appeal, only that Ann Marie suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property from her inability to market the subject property, lost profits from her inability to manage the property for timber and other forest products, lost profits from her inability to enter into long-term contracts for the use of the property, lost profits from her inability to sell the property for an equestrian-residential development similar to that on Persimmon Fork Road, lost tax benefits from placing the property into a conservation easement, lost income from her inability to use the property as collateral for a loan, and otherwise. She also alleged she lost the unfettered right to develop or improve the property as she wished.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court must view the allegations of the Amended Answer and Counterclaim in the light most favorable to the counterclaiming defendant. If the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from those facts would entitle the counterclaiming defendant to relief under

any theory of the case, dismissal is improper. *Carolina Park Assocs., LLC v. Marino*, 400 S.C. 1, 732 S.E.2d 876 (2012)

HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington, 389 S.C. 623, 699 S.E.2d 699 (Ct. App. 2010), teaches that in deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the pleader, state any valid claim for relief. The trial court and the Court of Appeals must presume all well-pled facts to be true. Pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Further, dismissal is a drastic procedure. The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the pleader will prevail in the action.

This standard ensures that cases are not dismissed prematurely and that parties are given the opportunity to present their claims fully if their allegations could potentially entitle them to relief.

The Supreme Court has expressly rejected any rigid, bright line test that delineates in minute detail exactly what a plaintiff must show to satisfy the Unfair Trade Practice Act's element of potential for repetition/public impact. *Daisy Outdoor Advertising Co. v. Abbott*, 322 S.C. 489, 473 S.E.2d 47 (1996). In Unfair Trade Practices Act cases, generally, plaintiffs will prove potential for repetition/public impact (1) by showing the same kind of actions occurred in the past, thus making it likely they will continue to occur absent deterrence or (2) by showing the company's procedures create a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts. But those are not the only means for showing potential for repetition/public impact. Rather, **each case must be evaluated on its own merits.** *Id.* (Emphasis added.)

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