**RECEIVED**

**Dec 22 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas

---

The Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000614  
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-40-00827

---

Kellum W. Allen..... Respondent,

v.

Ann Marie Watson..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

James Randall Davis, Esquire  
Davis Frawley, LLC  
149 East Main Street  
P.O. Box 489  
Lexington, S.C. 29071  
Telephone: (803) 359-2512  
Fax: (803) 359-7478  
randy@oldcourthouse.com  
Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:  
Robert P. Wood, Esquire

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

informed consent. Appellant in her pleadings concedes that there was no judgment in Mr. Rawl's case as in Burbach; the case was settled or withdrawn for reasons only known to the parties. The strengths and weaknesses of the cases of each party's case are unknown. There are many types of contracts involving many different facts and issues. Appellant's allegations regarding this case are far too generalized and vague to withstand a motion to dismiss.

Finally, and perhaps most significantly, the one case Appellant cites as evidence that Respondents actions are likely to recur took place in 2000, *over twenty years ago*. Assuming, without conceding, that the circumstances surrounding the 2000 complaint were similar to the circumstances of this case, the recurrence is incredibly infrequent and rare; they are not "likely to repeat" for purposes of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. The Court of Appeals should affirm the ruling of the Circuit Court.

## II. The Trial Court Properly Held That There Was No Cause of Action For Misappropriation Of Confidential Information In Either A Former Or Present Attorney-Client Relationship.

South Carolina does not recognize a tort of Misappropriation of Confidential Information. Appellant has not cited a single South Carolina case recognizing a tort of Misappropriation of Confidential Information in the attorney-client relationship. Nor has Appellant cited a single case from another state recognizing this tort.

In the context of the attorney-client relationship, the Court has only considered misappropriation of *client funds* in the context of disciplinary proceedings. See In re Ruffin, 363 S.C. 347, 610 SE 2d 803(S.C. 200); In re Thompson, 343 S.C. 1, 539 SE 2d 396 (S.C. 2000). A client can recover converted funds under other legal theories.

Courts in general recognize a tort of misappropriation in the context of *intellectual property*. The elements of this tort include:

- (i) the plaintiff generates or collects information at some cost or expense; (ii) the value of the information is highly time-sensitive; (iii) the defendant's use of the

information constitutes free-riding on the plaintiff's costly efforts to generate or collect it; (iv) the defendant's use of the information is in direct competition with a product or service offered by the plaintiff; (v) the ability of other parties to free-ride on the efforts of the plaintiff would so reduce the incentive to produce the product or service that its existence or quality would be substantially threatened. Richard A. Posner, "Misappropriation: A Dirge," 40 *Houston L.Rev.* 621 (2003)(citing NBA v. Motorola, Inc., 105 F.3d 841, 852 (2d Cir. 1997)).

Courts have also recognized misappropriation in the context of "insider trading." Aldave, Barbara Bader, "Misappropriation: A General Theory of Liability for Trading on Nonpublic Information," 13 *Hofstra L. Rev.* 101 (1984). Corporate securities are a heavily regulated field and should not serve as the basis for the recognition of a new tort.

This Court should not recognize a tort of misappropriation of confidential information in the attorney client relationship. No court in this state has recognized the tort.

Even were this Court inclined to be the first court in the country to recognize such a tort, this case does not present facts that are conducive to recognizing a new tort. Appellant contends that Respondent learned of her property through representing her, yet ownership of property is a matter of public record and not confidential information. She also contends that Respondent learned of her fragile emotional state through representing her and took advantage of this knowledge in obtaining the option, but such information was hardly generated through Appellant's effort or expense; it is not the type of information that is protected by the Court.

This case also is not appropriate to recognize a new tort because it is based on a faulty factual premise. Appellant contends that Respondent represented her in a domestic matter from May 1, 2016 through October 2022, yet it is a matter of public record that the final entry of the divorce decree was in 2017 and the option was executed on August 15, 2022.

In South Carolina divorce representation ends when a final decree of divorce is entered. *See 7 Am Jur 2d Attorneys at Law* § 170 (2017). "The attorney-client relationship terminates after

the judgment of divorce is entered." Shannon v. Shannon, 292 S.C. 112, 117, 355 S.E.2d 4, 6 (S.C. Ct. App. 1987). *Compare* Floyd v. Kosko, 285 S.C. 390, 393, 329 S.E.2d 459, 460 (S.C. Ct. 1985)

Appellant has argued in its brief that Respondent owed her a fiduciary duty based on the fact that he was *currently* serving as her attorney at the time the option was executed. In her brief, she discusses various duties owed by attorneys to their *current* clients, such as Rule 1:8 of the Rules of Professional Conduct,<sup>2</sup> yet the duties owed by Respondent to Appellant were those of attorney to *former* client; Appellant's lengthy argument is based on a standard that does not apply to Respondent. This Court should deny the appeal and affirm the lower court's determination that there is no tort of misappropriation of confidential information.

### III. The Trial Court Properly Held That The Second Counterclaim For Misappropriation of Confidential Information Was Duplicative Of The First Cause of Action For Breach Of The Fiduciary Duty Of Confidentiality.

A claim of breach of the fiduciary duty of good faith and a claim for attorney negligence cannot be raised in the same action. In Hood v. United Servs. Auto Ass'n, 445 S.C. 1, 910 S.E.2d 767 (S.C. 2025), an insurance company was sued for both negligence in representing its insured in an auto accident case as well as for breach of its fiduciary duty of good faith. The Court found that both actions could not be maintained simultaneously, holding:

South Carolina's case law contemplates negligence as merely evidence for a bad faith claim. *See* Nichols, 279 S.C. at 342, 306 S.E.2d at 620 (holding the jury was entitled to consider negligence on the issue of unreasonable refusal to pay benefits). At its core, negligence law is grounded in reasonableness. *See* Hart v. Doe, 261 S.C. 116, 122, 198 S.E.2d 526, 529 (1973) (defining negligence as "the failure to use due care," i.e., "that degree of care which a person of ordinary prudence and reason would exercise under the same circumstances" (emphasis added)). We have also stated that an insured can show a breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing through evidence of "bad faith or unreasonable action." Nichols, 279 S.C. at 340, 306 S.E.2d at 619. *However, our invoking reasonableness when establishing the duty of good faith and fair dealing only*

---

<sup>2</sup> Rule 1:8 of the Rules of Professional do not establish a standard of care and cannot be the basis of civil liability, but they can provide interpretive guidance. Spence v. Wingate, 395 S.C. 148, 716 S.E.2d 920 (S.C. 2011).

*sets the evidence available to prove that duty's breach, not that negligence is another claim parties may use to enforce it. Id.; see Cock-N-Bull Steak House, Inc. v. Generali Ins., 321 S.C. 1, 6, 466 S.E.2d 727, 730 (1996) ("An insured may recover damages for a bad faith denial of coverage if he or she proves there was no reasonable basis to support the insurer's decision to deny benefits under a mutually binding insurance contract." (quoting Dowling v. Home Buyers Warranty Corp., II, 303 S.C. 295, 297, 400 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1991))).*

Here, all of Hood's claims focus on (1) how USAA represented Hood in the Kuck Action against Hood and how it represented its own interests against Hood in the UIM Action; (2) how USAA's representatives treated Hood during mediation of the UIM Action; and (3) whether USAA breached its internal policies for litigation and mediation. All of these acts stem from the insurance contract. ***Thus, all these arguments fall under Hood's contract's scope and lead to one viable tort claim: bad faith. A negligence action would be entirely duplicative of that claim. Corp., II***, 303 S.C. 295, 297, 400 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1991)). See RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 335-36, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (2012) (holding a ***breach of fiduciary duty claim was duplicative of a legal malpractice claim because a client's claim for breach of fiduciary duty arose out of the duty inherent in the attorney-client relationship and the same factual allegations*** and therefore failed as a matter of law). Id. at 10-11, 910 S.E.2d at 772 (emphasis added).

See also RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 732 S.E.2d 166 (S.C. 2012); Skinner v. Horace Mann Ins. Co., 369 F. Supp. 3d 649 (D.S.C. 2019) ("the amended complaint fails to state plausible claims for negligence/gross negligence and negligence per se. As for negligence/gross negligence, the crux of this cause of action is that Defendant was negligent in processing, handling, and adjusting Plaintiff's claim against Poston and that Defendant's conduct was a 'breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.' See Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 47-53. The negligence/gross negligence claim is duplicative of the bad faith claim, and as other judges in this District have recognized, a freestanding claim of negligence is improper.")

Courts in other jurisdictions have followed this logic and reasoning. In Cox-Ott v. Barnes & Thornburg, LLP, 321 Ga. 688, 915 S.E.2d 894 (Ga.2025), plaintiff claimed that her attorney was negligent in his representation of her. The trial court discussed the nature of the duty in a legal malpractice action. The Georgia Supreme Court found:

Before turning to the particulars of the judgmental immunity doctrine, it is helpful to contextualize our discussion with a consideration of the broader framework applicable to legal malpractice claims. An action for legal malpractice is a species of professional malpractice, and as we have explained, “[a] professional malpractice action is merely a professional negligence action and calls into question the conduct of a professional in his area of expertise.” Lutz v. Foran, 262 Ga. 819, 820 (2) (427 SE2d 248) (1993) (citation and punctuation omitted) (superseded by statute on other grounds). *As a general matter, a claim for legal malpractice arises from “the breach of a duty imposed by the contract of employment between the attorney and the client[.]”* Villanueva v. First American Title Ins. Co., 292 Ga. 630, 631-632 (740 S.E.2d 108) (2013); Lewis v. Foy, 189 Ga. 596, 600 (6 S.E.2d 788) (1940) (an attorney’s duty to act in accordance with the standard of care arises from the attorney-client relationship). Id. at 689-90; 915 S.E.2d at 897 (emphasis added)

This Court should affirm the finding of the lower court that the second cause of action for misappropriation of confidential information is duplicative of the first cause of action for professional negligence based on an alleged breach of “the fiduciary duties of good faith, loyalty, and confidentiality.” This case presents an even stronger case than Hood, RFT Mgmt. Co., and Cox-Ott. Unlike Hood and RFT Mgmt. Co., where the courts examined the nature of the duty in an action for breach of good faith and the duty in a cause of action for professional negligence, finding that both duties are rooted in contract and the *same* contract based duty, in this case there is a specific fiduciary duty of *confidentiality* which serves as the basis for *both* a cause of action for professional negligence and a cause of action for “misappropriation of confidential information.” Ordinarily a person owes no duty of confidentiality to another person; the duty in this case was created by the contract-based fiduciary duties of an attorney-client relationship.

Further, both claims for breach of the fiduciary duty of confidentiality and the claim for misappropriation of confidential information are based on the *exact same facts*. Given the fact that both claims are based on the same set of facts and arise out of the same legal duty, this Court should find that the trial court did not err in dismissing the second cause of action for misappropriation of confidential information as duplicative of the negligence cause of action.

IV. Appellant Has Not Preserved Any Public Policy Grounds For Proving A Public Interest Because They Were Not Ruled Upon By The Trial Court And Not Raised in Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration, And Any Public Policy Grounds Are To Vague To Be Cognizable By The Court.

“A party may wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party *must file* such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.” Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 SE 2d 772, 780 (S.C. 2004). *See also Metts v. Mims*, 384 S.C. 491, 499, 682 S.E.2d 813, 817-18 (S.C. 2009). “Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.” Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 SE 2d at 779-780.

As discussed more fully above, a Plaintiff cannot rely on generalized allegations to support a likelihood of repetition. *See Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 455, 814 S.E.2d 643, 655-56 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018); Ameristone Tile, LLC v. Ceramic Consulting Corp., 966 F. Supp. 2d 604 (D.S.C. 2013). A plaintiff must make specific allegations.

A violation of an ethical rule will not support, in and of itself, civil liability for damages. The South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct cannot be used to bar an action in equity. The Scope section of the Rules provides, in part:

[7] Violation of a Rule should not itself give rise to a cause of action against a lawyer nor should it create any presumption in such a case that a legal duty has been breached. In addition, violation of a Rule does not necessarily warrant any other nondisciplinary remedy, such as disqualification of a lawyer in pending litigation. The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide a structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies. *They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability. Furthermore, the purpose of the Rules can be subverted when they are invoked by opposing parties as procedural weapons.* Scope, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (2024) (emphasis added)

Courts in other jurisdictions have directly held that a violations of ethical rules will not support civil liability. *See In re Estate of Pedrick*, 505 Pa. 530, 482 A.2d 215 (Pa. 1984)(will case); *M.A. Mills, P.C. v. Kotts*, 640 S.W.3d 323, 331 (Tex. Ct, App. 2022)(“These rules do not undertake to define standards of civil liability of lawyers for professional conduct. Violation of a rule does not give rise to a private cause of action nor does it create any presumption that a legal duty to a client has been breached.

This Court should find that Appellant’s allegations that the “public interest” is affected on public policy grounds was not preserved for appeal because it was not ruled upon in the lower court and not raised in Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration (R. p. 94). Appellant has alleged “[t]he Plaintiff’s actions affect the public interest in that they have reduced the public’s confidence in the South Carolina justice system and the South Carolina Bar” and “[t]he Plaintiff’s actions also affect the public interest in that they are violations of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct and not merely violations of common law fiduciary duties.” Amended Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 66, 67 (R. p. 43). Neither of these issues were addressed in the Court’s Order of January 24, 2025 (R. p. 3) or its Supplemental Order of January 24, 2025 (R. p. 6). In Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider, it asserted “[t]he public policy of the State of South Carolina requires a lawyer to obtain his client’s informed consent before engaging in a business transaction with that client. Rule 1.8(a), SCRPC” Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider (R. p. 94). Appellant did not raise the issue of the undermining of public confidence in the legal system in her Motion to Reconsider. This Court should find that this issue is not preserved for appeal because it was not raised before the lower court.

This Court should further find that the allegation of reduced public confidence in the legal system is far too broad to support a finding that public policy supports liability under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. In theory, *ANY* misunderstanding between an attorney and